FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/25/2019 9:59 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97357-1 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 77078-1-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ROYALE TYRELL-SCOTT THORNTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Royale Thornton was convicted of the second-degree murder of Rahman Karriem and the first-degree assault of Jahlil Ray. Although evidence from every surviving witness, including Thornton himself, established that Karriem had issued no imminent threat to Thornton before Thornton shot him in the chest at point-blank range, Thornton claimed he had acted in self-defense. In closing argument, the deputy prosecutor argued that Thornton's own testimony disproved his justifiable homicide defense. Did the prosecutor's argument impermissibly shift the burden on self-defense? Was any error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the trial court correctly instructed the jury?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 31, 2014, Thornton and his best friend Carlos Pace drove to a small grocery in South Seattle to buy cigars. 5/23/17 RP 168-

69; RP 1038-42. Karriem, Ray, and Ray's girlfriend Maria Santos had the same idea. RP 620, 888. There was animosity between Thornton and Karriem that was attributable to Thornton's relationship with Karriem's sister or to Karriem's having cut Thornton out of the proceeds of a theft they had previously committed together. RP 881-82, 1042-43, 1059-60, 1106, 1504-05; 5/23/17 177-78. When Pace noticed Karriem at the store, he suggested that Karriem and Thornton resolve their differences with a fist fight. RP 891-94, 1044: 5/23/17 RP 189-90. Thornton told Karriem he would not fight, and Karriem reportedly said "if you're not trying to fight, when I turn this corner, don't bust at me," which meant, "don't shoot at me." 5/23/17 RP 189; RP 628, 899, 933, 1048, 1052-53. Immediately and without warning, Thornton pulled a loaded gun from under his thigh and fired all five rounds at Karriem and Ray from the SUV's front passenger seat. 5/23/17 RP 194; RP 629-30, 899-901, 1054-55, 1345-47. Pace, who was in the driver's seat, sped away. 5/23/17 RP 168, 198, 200; RP 726, 896, 902, 1036-37.

Thornton shot Karriem in the chest at point-blank range. RP 1346-47. Karriem died at Harborview Medical Center a short time later.

1

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings consists of 21 volumes. Most are consecutively paginated and are referred to in this brief by page number only. Four other volumes are separately paginated and are cited by date and page number (e.g., [Date] RP [Page Number]).

RP 631; 5/23/17 RP 113-16. At the hospital, medical personnel found a loaded handgun in Karriem's pocket. RP 588-89. Ray and Santos escaped injury.

Thornton and Pace were arrested days later. RP 753, 1253. While Thornton persistently denied involvement, Pace admitted he was the driver and that Thornton had shot Karriem. RP 1268, 1272, 1362. The State charged Thornton with second degree murder for Karriem's death and first degree assault for shooting at Ray. CP 12-13. The State charged Pace with rendering criminal assistance. RP 1020. Pace pleaded guilty to the charge and testified against Thornton. RP 1021.

At trial, every surviving witness testified about the shooting. Pace, Ray, and Santos gave consistent testimony that Karriem did not pull a gun or verbally threaten Thornton before Thornton shot him. RP 635-36, 745, 903-04, 1064-65, 1355. All three agreed that Karriem had instead sought assurances that Thornton would not shoot him as he walked away. RP 628, 899, 1052. Pace further testified that Thornton said he shot Karriem because Karriem had not shared the proceeds of the earlier theft and that Thornton apologized to Pace for the shooting. RP 1059, 1071. At no point did Thornton tell Pace that he was afraid for his life or acting in self-defense. RP 1071.

Before trial, Thornton consistently denied he was present during the shooting for several months after his arrest; nevertheless he decided to pursue a justifiable homicide defense at trial.² RP 1356-57, 1361-72, 1376-89. In his testimony, Thornton basically agreed with the other witnesses' description of events, but claimed that instead of asking Thornton not to shoot him, Karriem had warned, "if I see you in the south end, if we get around this corner and I see you again, I'm going to get off." 5/23/17 RP 192. Thornton testified that he interpreted this to mean that Karriem would shoot at him if Karriem saw him again in the area, and that he responded to this conditional future threat by immediately shooting Karriem in the chest. RP 1344-47, 1351-55. Thornton admitted he never saw Karriem's gun on this occasion, but said he believed Karriem was armed because his hands were in his pockets and because Karriem shot at him a few months earlier.³ 5/23/17 RP 193, 196; RP 1354. Thornton's

_

² The State introduced recorded jail calls in which Thornton discussed several possible defense theories, including alibi and "playing insanity" before telling a friend that insanity would not work and he had instead decided on "trying to use self-defense." RP 1371, 1377, 1385-86.

³ Thornton testified that Karriem was upset about how a relationship between Thornton and Karriem's sister had ended. RP 177. He claimed that one day a few months before this shooting, he was stopped at a red light when Karriem intentionally crashed into his car, banged on Thornton's car door with a gun, chased Thornton at speeds of 130 miles per hour on city surface streets, and fired at least eight bullets into Thornton's car, which caused Thornton's car to flip over and trap him inside at the major intersection of the Interstate 5 offramp and Martin Luther King, Jr. Way in South Seattle. RP 178-82. Thornton claimed an unidentified female Good Samaritan came to his aid, punched the window out, removed Thornton's seatbelt, dragged him out of the car, and drove him to Pace's mother's home. RP 182, 185. Thornton said that Pace drove him to Harborview Medical Center and waited while he was treated. RP 185-87. Pace acknowledged that he

outlandish story about this alleged prior shooting involved Pace, but Pace denied any personal knowledge of the event, as well as the role Thornton said Pace had played, and Pace's recorded post-arrest conversation with Thornton clearly established that he did not believe that Thornton had acted in self-defense. RP 1043, 1505-07.

The jury was instructed that justifiable homicide has three components and that it was the State's burden to prove that at least one of them did not exist:

It is defense to a charge of murder that the homicide was justifiable as defined in this instruction.

Homicide is justifiable when committed in the lawful defense of the slayer when:

- (1) the slayer reasonably believed that the person slain intended to inflict death or great personal injury;
- (2) the slayer reasonably believed that there was imminent danger of such harm being accomplished; and
- (3) the slayer employed such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into consideration all the facts and circumstances as they appeared to him, at the time of and prior to the incident.

had received a voicemail from Thornton in which gunshots could be heard, but denied any personal knowledge of these events, and specifically denied that Thornton had been dropped off at Pace's mother's house and that Pace took him to the hospital. RP 1499, 1504-07. Detective Mooney testified that he had investigated Thornton's story about this prior shooting and was unable to find records from any law enforcement agency that corroborated anything about it. RP 1517-19.

The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the homicide was not justifiable. If you find that the State has not proved the absence of this defense beyond a reasonable doubt, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to Count 1.

CP 280.

In closing argument, the State acknowledged its burden to disprove self-defense, and addressed the defense in three ways. First, the prosecutor pointed out circumstantial evidence undercutting the existence of the three necessary components of justifiable homicide. For example, evidence that Thornton expressly denied to investigating officers that he shot Karriem in self-defense, never told his friends and family that he was in fear for his life at the time, and openly discussed pursuing an alibi or insanity defense instead tended to disprove that any of the three elements of justifiable homicide existed. RP 1564-67. The State argued that this evidence "defeated any claim of self-defense. Everything he did, everything he said, is contrary to self-defense, making him guilty of murder beyond a reasonable doubt." RP 1567.

Second, the prosecutor argued that Thornton's testimony also tended to disprove his defense. At this point, the prosecutor did not question Thornton's credibility, but instead invited the jury to "assum[e] the defendant told us the absolute truth on the stand[.]" RP 1568. The prosecutor pointed out that Thornton admitted that Karriem made no direct

threat to harm him that day and never displayed a weapon, and that Karriem's only threat was to shoot at Thornton if he ever saw Thornton in the south end of Seattle "again." RP 1567-68; RP 189-93. After accurately restating the three necessary components of justifiable homicide, the State argued that Thornton's testimony did not "meet" the requirements of that defense because, by Thornton's own account, Karriem did not threaten him with imminent death or serious injury. RP 1568-71. In other words, the State argued that Thornton's testimony disproved a justifiable homicide defense (even taken as completely true).

Third, the prosecutor attacked Thornton's credibility. The prosecutor argued that Thornton's description of having been shot at by Karriem months before while traveling 130 miles per hour on Seattle surface streets, flipping his car at a major intersection, and being rescued by an anonymous Good Samaritan was "outlandish" and belied by the utter absence of any corroborating evidence. RP 1572-74. The State also argued that the jury should not find Thornton's testimony credible because it conflicted with the testimony of every other witness to the incident, who had each testified that Karriem did not threaten Thornton and in fact sought assurance that Thornton would not shoot him as he walked away. RP 1575-76.

After trial, the jury found Thornton guilty as charged and found that he was armed with a firearm during each offense. Thornton appealed, arguing among other things that the State had improperly shifted the burden of proof with respect to self-defense. The Court of Appeals, Division One, agreed with Thornton on this point and reversed Thornton's second degree murder conviction. The State's motion for reconsideration was denied. The State now seeks this Court's review.

D. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED & ARGUMENT</u>

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court where a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court, raises a significant question of laws under the Washington State or United States Constitution, or deals with an issue of substantial public interest. These criteria are met here. The decision below is inconsistent with established precedent from both the Court of Appeals and this Court and confuses the law with respect to self-defense and prosecutorial misconduct, which raises an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals reversed Thornton's murder conviction because it mistook the prosecutor's closing remarks as an argument that Thornton "failed to present evidence that his fear was reasonable or that

the harm he feared was imminent." Slip op. at 17. As explained above, that was not the State's argument. Rather, the State's argument sought to explain how the evidence that Thornton did present—his own testimony—disproved the defense. The Court of Appeals' existing caselaw demonstrates that this is a critical distinction.

In general, a prosecutor may not comment on a lack of defense evidence because the defense has no burden in a criminal prosecution. State v. Sundberg, 185 Wn.2d 147, 152-53, 70 P.3d 1 (2016). Courts have thus found improper burden-shifting where a prosecutor argues that the jury should find the defendant guilty because he or she failed to explain the factual basis of the charges. See, e.g., State v. French, 101 Wn. App. 380, 386, 4 P.3d 857 (2000) (improper to argue "the defense has given you absolutely no reason to be able to conclude the defendant didn't do this"). Similarly, an argument that the State has no obligation to disprove selfdefense unless the defendant first establishes the defense by a preponderance of the evidence is improper because it is not the defendant's burden to prove self-defense, but the State's job to disprove it. State v. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 470, 184 P.3d 793 (2012) (in dicta). Courts have also found prosecutorial misconduct where the State argues that the jury must convict unless it believes the defendant's testimony, because the jury is free to disbelieve the defendant and still not

find proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Glasmann</u>, 175 Wn.2d 696, 713-14, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); <u>State v. Miles</u>, 139 Wn. App. 879, 890, 162 P.3d 1169 (2007). Further, unless the State is entitled to make a "missing witness" argument, a prosecutor improperly shifts the burden by arguing that the jury should hold defendant's failure to produce witnesses to corroborate his theory against him. <u>State v. Blair</u>, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991); <u>State v. Berube</u>, 171 Wn. App. 103, 118, 286 P.3d 402 (2012).

In contrast, there is no misconduct where the prosecutor's argument does not imply that *the defense* has failed to offer alternative explanations to guilt, but rather "simply argued that *the evidence* did not support any other reasonable explanation." State v. Killingsworth, 166
Wn. App. 283, 290-92, 269 P.3d 1064 (2012) (emphasis in original). That is because the "prosecutor is entitled to argue inferences from the evidence and to point out improbabilities or a lack of evidentiary support for the defense's theory of the case." Id. (citing State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 883 P.2d 747 (1994)). Indeed, "the State may argue the fact that its evidence is unrefuted, even though it thereby subtly alludes to the absence of a defense." State v. Traweek, 43 Wn. App. 99, 107, 715 P.2d 1148, 1152 (1986) (citing State v. Crawford, 21 Wn. App. 146, 584 P.2d 442

(1978)), <u>disapproved of on other grounds by State v. Blair</u>, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991).

It is also not improper to argue that the defendant's testimony was not credible, or that the explanation he or she gave for the factual basis of the charges was not plausible considering the other evidence at trial. State v. Cardenas-Flores, 194 Wn. App. 496, 516, 374 P.3d 1217 (2016) (not misconduct to argue, "Now, defendant got up there ... they never gave a plausible explanation for how this kid broke his femur" in light of evidence that "it would be immediately obvious when this injury happens"), aff'd, 9 Wn.2d 243, 401 P.3d 19 (2017). Accordingly, where a defendant denied that he assaulted the victim in his car, it was not misconduct to ask in closing argument, "If a struggle ... didn't occur in the car, how did that earring come out of her ear and get left on the floor and how did she break those fingernails[?]" State v. Osman, 192 Wn. App. 355, 367-68, 366 P.3d 956 (2016). Even though that rhetorical question suggested that the defendant failed to establish facts supporting his defense theory, which he had no burden to do, the remark was appropriate because it was properly focused on the evidence presented at trial—the lost earring and broken fingernail—not the defendant's failure to produce evidence. <u>Id.</u> Likewise, where the defense presents a witness to explain away the factual basis of the charges, it is not misconduct for

the prosecutor to argue "there was not a single shred of testimony in this case to corroborate" the witness's story. <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 150 Wn. App. 877, 885-86, 209 P.3d 553 (2009).

The Court of Appeals distinguished <u>Jackson</u> and <u>Killingsworth</u> and instead relied on <u>McCreven</u>. There, the court observed that the State improperly shifted the burden by arguing that the defendant had to prove self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. 170 Wn. App. at 469-70. But that was not the reason the court reversed in that case. The <u>McCreven</u> court reversed because the trial court's *written instructions* contained the same misstatement of law and "[w]e must presume the jury followed the erroneous self-defense instruction." <u>Id.</u> at 471. In contrast, here, there is no dispute that the jury was properly instructed. Slip op. at 19.

The law is clear. The "mere mention that defense evidence is lacking does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct or shift the burden of proof to the defense." <u>Jackson</u>, 150 Wn. App. at 885-86. So long as the prosecutor does "not imply that the defendant was required to provide evidence nor that the jury should find [the defendant] guilty based on his decision" not to present more, different, or any evidence, a prosecutor may point out that the defense theory is unsupported. <u>Jackson</u>, 150 Wn. App. at 885-86. And even a misstatement of the law in argument can be cured

by correct instructions from the court. <u>Cf. McCreven</u>, 170 Wn. App. at 471.

Here, the prosecutor did not argue that Thornton should have produced additional or different evidence, as in French, or that the jury should convict him simply because he failed to do so, as in Blair and Berube. He did not assert there was no evidence of self-defense to disprove, as in McCreven. Instead, he argued that the evidence Thornton chose to produce—his own testimony—disproved the defense theory. By overlooking this critical distinction, the Court of Appeals departed from its own established precedent and sowed confusion about how the State may properly overcome a defense of justifiable homicide.

The Court of Appeals decision is also in conflict with this Court's well-settled caselaw that a jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions absent evidence to the contrary. See, e.g., State v. Dye, 178 Wn.2d 541, 556, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013); State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). For example, in State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 355 P.3d 253 (2015), the trial court materially misstated the meaning of "reasonable doubt." This Court concluded the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because "correct instructions given throughout the case cured any potential prejudice that could have possibly arisen." Id. at 586. This Court held that any error in

allowing a comfort dog to assist a testifying victim was "cured" by the trial court's instruction not to draw any conclusions about the dog's presence. <u>Id.</u>

Likewise, in this case, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that "the trial court properly instructed the jury that the State had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the homicide was not justifiable." Slip op. at 19. The trial court also properly instructed the jury to "disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions." CP 261. But nowhere in its opinion did the Court of Appeals acknowledge or apply the presumption that the jury followed these correct instructions, even though another panel of the same court has distinguished McCreven on exactly that basis. See State v. Sweet, 192 Wn. App. 1015, *2 (2016) (unpublished, offered as persuasive authority only). The Court of Appeals' decision thus introduces uncertainty about whether and under what circumstances improper argument may be cured with correct jury instructions. This Court should accept review to reiterate that correct jury instructions may cure error occasioned by misstatements of the law in argument.

Further, this Court recently implicitly endorsed the type of argument the State made in this case. In <u>State v. Romero-Ochoa</u>, ____ Wn.2d ___, 440 P.3d 994 (2019), this Court considered whether a trial

court's erroneous refusal to admit evidence that a rape victim had applied for a U visa, which grants temporary legal resident status to a person who is the victim of a qualifying crime and who assists law enforcement to investigate or prosecute that crime, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In concluding that the error was harmless, this Court reiterated that its analysis required scrutiny of all of the evidence. Id. at 998. The Court noted that the defendant was the only witness to testify in support of a consent defense, which negates an element of rape in much the same way that self-defense negates an element of murder, and that his testimony was at odds with the well-corroborated account of the victim. Id. at 999.

The Court then observed that the State had argued in closing that "Romero-Ochoa provided no evidence corroborating his story," which was "highly implausible," and that his claims were directly refuted by another witness. Id. at 1003.

The Romero-Ochoa court did not suggest that it was in any way improper for the State to argue that the defendant had "provided no evidence corroborating his story." The Court of Appeals decision in this case is directly to the contrary. As a result, there is confusion about whether the State may properly point out that a defendant's self-serving

⁴ See State v. W.R., Jr., 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014).

testimony is implausible, uncorroborated, and insufficient to support his defense.

E. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision in this case is inconsistent with established caselaw and sows confusion in an important area of constitutional law. This Court should accept review to clarify and reiterate both the boundaries of appropriate argument in self-defense cases and the proper analysis of constitutional harmless error.