FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/16/2019 4:17 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97357-1

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ROYALE THORNTON,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
lila@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

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

D. ARGUMENT

Review is unwarranted. The Court of Appeals followed settled law in reversing one of two convictions for prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct.

1. The State's argument is based on what it wishes the prosecutor had said, but the Court of Appeals reversed based on what the prosecutor actually said.

The petition meets none of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) because all of the prosecution's arguments are premised on an inaccurate description of the facts. The Court of Appeals properly relied on the actual facts in the record, and there is no basis for this Court's review.

The parties agree on the law. It is well-settled that the State bears the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 500, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983). A prosecutor commits misconduct by shifting the burden to the defendant to prove he acted in lawful self-defense. *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. 444, 470, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). This rule is consistent with the standard rule that a prosecutor may not shift the burden of proof in any criminal case. *See State v. Miles*, 139 Wn. App. 879, 890, 162 P.3d 1169 (2007); *State v. Fleming*, 83 Wn. App. 209, 215, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996).

The Court of Appeals applied the above law to the facts. The State wishes the facts were different, but this Court cannot change facts. As set out more fully in the Court of Appeals' opinion, the prosecutor argued:

[PROSECUTOR]: Again, if one of these fails, the entire defense fails. Again, even assuming the defendant told us the absolute truth on the stand, *where's the evidence that* – MR. MINOR: Objection. This is shifting the burden of proof. THE COURT: Overruled. ...

. . .

[PROSECUTOR]: Again, if we were to accept [Mr. Thornton's] testimony as 100 percent credible, *he fails to meet* this first criteria, this first requirement. And by *failing to meet* this first requirement, self-defense fails. *His defense fails*.

. .

So by the defendant's own admissions, there is no imminent danger of death or great personal injury. *Failing to meet this second requirement alone means that this defense fails*, that this homicide was not legally justified.

. . .

So again, even taking the defendant's own testimony at full face value, *he fails to meet this third requirement as well*. Again if one part fails, the entire defense fails. And here *the defendant fails all three*, and that's if we were to take his testimony as credible.

RP (5/30/17) 1568-71 (emphases added); see Slip Op. at 12-13.

Unlike the Court of Appeals' opinion, the petition for review does not quote the prosecutor's actual closing argument. The State claims "the prosecutor did not argue that Thornton should have produced additional or different evidence[.]" Pet. at 13. In fact, the prosecutor stated, "where's the evidence that ..." after which Mr. Thornton's objection was improperly overruled. RP (5/30/17) 1568-69; *see* Slip Op. at 12.

The State then insists, contrary to the record and the opinion, that the prosecutor did not repeatedly shift the burden by accusing the defense of "failing to meet" the requirements of self-defense. "Instead, he argued that the evidence Thornton chose to produce – his own testimony – *disproved the defense theory*." Pet. at 13; *see also* Pet. at 1 (claiming prosecutor argued the testimony "disproved his justifiable homicide defense"); Pet. at 7 (claiming prosecutor argued the testimony "*disproved* a justifiable homicide defense"); Pet. at 13 (claiming prosecutor argued the testimony "*disproved the defense theory*") (emphases in original). The State claims the difference between that argument and an improper argument is "a critical distinction." Pet. at 9. That is true, but as the Court of Appeals recognized, the prosecutor did not actually say anything about the evidence "disproving the defense." Instead, the prosecutor repeatedly stated that Mr. Thornton "fail[ed] to meet" the requirements of self-defense. RP (5/30/17) 1568-71; Slip Op. at 12-13.

The State implicitly acknowledges this fact at one point, introducing its rewrite of the prosecutor's statements by saying, "In other words" Pet. at 7. But the Court of Appeals properly reviewed the words the prosecutor actually used, not the "other words" the State wishes he had used. There is no basis for this Court's review.

¹ The State wrongly claims this case is contrary to *State v. Romero-Ochoa*, __ Wn.2d __, 440 P.3d 994 (2019). Pet. at 14-15. *Romero-Ochoa* involved an evidentiary issue; it had nothing to do with prosecutorial misconduct.

2. The court properly determined the burden-shifting was not harmless where the eventual decedent was yelling at Mr. Thornton while armed with a loaded gun.

There is also no issue with the prejudice analysis. This Court has emphasized that "deciding whether reversal is required is not a matter of whether there is sufficient evidence to justify upholding the verdicts.

Rather, the question is whether there is a substantial likelihood that the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 711, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). The Court of Appeals applied this standard. Slip Op. at 19. It carefully considered the evidence presented and found the misconduct harmless as to the assault conviction but prejudicial as to the murder conviction.

The State concedes the Court of Appeals correctly took into account the fact that the jury had been instructed properly, yet then complains that the Court did not presume the instructions cured the prejudice caused by its misconduct. Pet. at 13-14. Instructions, of course, are not always enough to overcome the prejudice caused by prosecutorial misconduct. *E.g. State v. Walker*, 182 Wn.2d 463, 480-81, 341 P.3d 976 (2015) (reversing for misconduct even though proper instructions given); *State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 443, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) (same); *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 699 (same). In this case, the misconduct was prejudicial as to the murder conviction because there was significant

evidence of self-defense, yet the prosecutor shifted the burden on that very issue.

Moreover, the State fails to acknowledge the import of the trial court's treatment of the objection to the prejudice analysis. When the court overruled Mr. Thornton's objection to burden-shifting, it lent "an aura of legitimacy to what was otherwise improper argument." *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 378, 341 P.3d 268 (2015) (quoting *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 764, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)). This, combined with the repeated, pervasive nature of the burden-shifting and the undisputed evidence that the decedent was armed, demonstrate that the misconduct was prejudicial. The Court of Appeals carefully evaluated prejudice as to each conviction, and there is no basis for this Court's review.

E. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review because the Court of Appeals applied settled law to the facts of this case in an unpublished opinion.